



PARTNERSHIP • KNOWLEDGE • RESULTS

2501 Aerial Center Parkway, Suite 103, Morrisville, NC 27560  
877.997.7742

# **BYLAWS OF THE PROPERTY RECORDS INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION**

**Adopted by the PRIA Membership on August 24, 2016**

Version 2.5

<http://www.pria.us>

## **PRIA Copyright Notice, Disclaimer and End-User License**

### **Version 1.1 November 2003 (the "PRIA License" or the "License")**

This document or software (the "Work") is published by the Property Records Industry Association ("PRIA"). Copyright © 2002-2015 - writers listed in the Work (collectively or individually, a "Licensor"). All rights reserved.

Subject to this License, Licensor hereby grants any user of this document or software ("Licensee") a worldwide, royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, non-exclusive license to reproduce the Work in copies, to prepare proprietary derivative works based upon the Work, to distribute copies of the Work to the public by sale or other transfer of ownership, and to display the Work publicly.

If the Work is software published by PRIA as codes in source and binary form, the License includes the right for Licensee to distribute copies of, and use, the codes in source and binary forms, with or without modification.

Any distribution of copies of the Work, or of a derivative work based upon the Work, shall reproduce verbatim the above copyright notice, the entire text of this License and the entire disclaimer below under the following header: "This document includes works developed by PRIA and some of its contributors, subject to PRIA License, Version 1.1 November 2003 published at [www.pria.us/license.htm](http://www.pria.us/license.htm) or any subsequent applicable version of such License." Any software application developed by Licensee based upon the Work shall include the following notice in its end user documentation and in its codes: "This software product includes software or other works developed by PRIA and some of its contributors, subject to PRIA License, Version 1.1 November 2003 published at [www.pria.us/license.htm](http://www.pria.us/license.htm) or any subsequent applicable version of such License." Upon publication of a derivative work, Licensee shall inform PRIA of such publication and address to PRIA a copy of Licensee's derivative work and any relevant documentation.

"PRIA" is a trade name of the "Property Records Industry Association." No derivative work or altered versions of a Work by Licensee may be trademarked or labeled in reference to PRIA or any of its trademark(s) or service mark(s) without PRIA's prior written approval. No reference to PRIA or any of its trademarks by Licensee shall imply endorsement of Licensee's activities and products.

**DISCLAIMER: THIS WORK IS PROVIDED "AS IS." PRIA, THE COPYRIGHT HOLDER, THE AUTHORS OF THIS WORK AND ANY STANDARD -SETTING BODY CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS WORK MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES (i) EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT; (ii) THAT THE CONTENTS OF SUCH WORK ARE FREE FROM ERROR OR SUITABLE FOR ANY PURPOSE; NOR THAT IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH CONTENTS WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY THIRD-PARTY PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, TRADEMARKS OR OTHER RIGHTS. IN NO EVENT WILL PRIA, THE COPYRIGHT HOLDER. ANY AUTHOR OF THIS WORK, OR THE STANDARD-SETTING BODY CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS WORK BE LIABLE TO ANY PARTY FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES FOR ANY USE OF THIS WORK, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY LOST PROFITS,**

BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, LOSS OF PROGRAMS OR OTHER DATA ON YOUR INFORMATION HANDLING SYSTEM OR OTHERWISE, EVEN IF PRIA, THE COPYRIGHT HOLDER AND/OR ANY AUTHORS AND/OR ANY STANDARD-SETTING BODY CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS WORK ARE EXPRESSLY ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

# Table of Contents

ARTICLE I - NAME .....	1
ARTICLE II - PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES.....	1
ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP .....	1
1. Membership/Classes .....	1
a. Regular Members. ....	1
b. Associate Members. ....	2
2. Registered Observers. ....	2
3. General Conditions for Membership.....	2
4. Acceptance of Members. ....	2
5. Rights and Privileges of Members and Registered Observers. ....	2
a. Regular Members: .....	2
b. Associate Members: .....	3
c. Registered Observers:.....	3
6. Obligations of Members and Registered Observers.....	3
7. Voting Rights and Right to Hold Office. ....	3
8. Removal.....	3
9. Resignation.....	4
10. Meetings.....	4
11. Action by Consent. ....	4
12. Meeting by Means of Remote Communication.....	4
13. Quorum. ....	5
14. Presiding Officer. ....	5
15. Voting List and Voting.....	5
16. Proxies. ....	5

---

17. Members in Good Standing.....	5
ARTICLE IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS.....	5
1. General Powers. ....	5
2. Place of Meetings.....	6
3. Annual Meeting.....	6
4. Regular Meetings. ....	6
5. Special Meetings. ....	6
6. Nomination.....	6
7. Quorum; Vote.....	6
8. Qualification; Number; Election; and Classes. ....	6
• Business Members .....	7
• Recorder Members .....	7
• At Large Members.....	7
9. Tenure. ....	7
10. Vacancies.....	7
11. Removal.....	7
12. Resignation.....	7
13. Action by Consent Without Meeting.....	7
14. Meeting by Telephone or Other Electronic Means. ....	7
15. Voting by Electronic Means.....	8
16. Compensation and Reimbursement.....	8
17. Work Groups. ....	8
18. Operating Rules. ....	8
ARTICLE V - COMMITTEES .....	8
1. Committees of the Board.....	8

---

2. Committee Meetings and Procedures.....	8
ARTICLE VI - OFFICERS .....	9
1. Election and Tenure. ....	9
2. Duties of the President.....	9
3. Duties of the Vice President. ....	9
4. Duties of the Secretary.....	9
5. Duties of the Treasurer.....	9
6. Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary.....	10
7. Compensation. ....	10
ARTICLE VII - INDEMNIFICATION .....	10
1. Insurance.....	10
2. Right to Indemnification.....	10
3. Authorization of Indemnification. ....	11
4. Advancement of Expenses. ....	11
5. Mandatory Indemnification.....	11
6. Non-exclusivity of Rights. ....	12
7. Repeal or Amendment. ....	12
ARTICLE VIII - NOTICE .....	12
1. Notice of Meeting .....	12
2. Waiver of Notice.....	12
ARTICLE IX - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS .....	12
ARTICLE X - RECORDS OF THE CORPORATION .....	13
ARTICLE XI - FISCAL YEAR AND AUDIT.....	13
ARTICLE XII - AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS.....	13

## ARTICLE I - NAME

---

The name of the corporation is Property Records Industry Association (hereinafter referred to as the "Corporation").

## ARTICLE II - PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES

---

The Corporation is formed for the purpose of bringing together the major participants in the property records industry, including government officials, associations and business concerns, to:

- Identify opportunities for the industry to work together to improve the trustworthiness and effectiveness of the property ownership principles and financing methods that are the foundation of market capitalism in the United States and abroad;
- Acknowledge diversity of viewpoints on industry issues so as to identify areas of consensus within the industry leading to recommendations for and support of best standards and practices;
- Encourage adoption of such model standards and practices;
- Provide a clearinghouse for information about property-records-related principles, practices, systems, protocols and legislation; and
- Educate industry participants, legislators, law enforcement agencies and the public about the organization, role and function of the property records industry.

## ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP

---

1. **Membership/Classes.** There shall be two classes of members, which shall be known as Regular Members, and Associate Members.

a. **Regular Members.** Any individual, association, organization, or government agency may apply to be a Regular Member, if the primary purpose of the individual, association, organization, or government agency is to provide processes or services relating to the functions of recording conveyance of property, taxing of property, and recording of liens on property, as well as making this information available to the public, at the county or other level, nationwide or worldwide. If an association, organization, or government agency applies to be a Regular Member, the association, organization, or government agency shall designate one individual to act on behalf of the association, organization, or government agency for all purposes set forth in these Bylaws and, except as otherwise provided for herein or the Certificate of Incorporation, with respect to rights and privileges afforded to members under Delaware General Corporation Law. Regular Members shall be further classified as being Government Sector Members or Business Sector Members.

b. Associate Members. An assistant to a Regular Member may apply to become an Associate Member. In addition, any individual, association, organization, or government agency, whose primary purpose is not substantially involved directly in the processes or services as defined under Regular Members, but who is indirectly related to such activities of any Regular Member, may apply for Associate membership. If an association, organization, or government agency applies to be an Associate Member, the association, organization, or government agency shall designate one individual to act on behalf of the association, organization, or government agency for all purposes set forth in these Bylaws and, except as otherwise provided for herein or the Certificate of Incorporation, with respect to rights and privileges afforded to members under Delaware General Corporation Law.

2. **Registered Observers.** An individual or representative of an association, organization, or government agency that is neither a Regular nor Associate Member, and who registers for a meeting or other event organized by or on behalf of the Corporation or any of its committees or other groups is a Registered Observer for all purposes set forth in these Bylaws.

3. **General Conditions for Membership.** All applicants fulfilling the requirements for membership as set forth above may be admitted to be members of the Corporation after submission of a membership application, payment of dues or fees, and acceptance by the Corporation as provided in these Bylaws. Upon admission to membership, each member shall be deemed to have read, accepted and agreed to these Bylaws and any Operating Rules established from time to time by the Corporation. A member's classification shall be determined from the membership application.

4. **Acceptance of Members.** All applications for membership must be in the form provided by the Corporation and addressed to the Manager of the Corporation. Any application for membership will be reviewed by the Manager. If the application is deficient, the Manager shall notify the applicant of the deficiency. The Manager is authorized to act on any membership application deemed complete by the Manager. If the Manager determines that an application should be referred to the Board of Directors for action, the Manager shall give notice of the application's referral to all members of the Board of Directors at least five days prior to the meeting of the Board of Directors at which the application will be considered.

5. **Rights and Privileges of Members and Registered Observers.** Except as provided otherwise herein, each class of membership shall have the rights and other privileges as provided for in these Bylaws, the Certificate of Incorporation, and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

a. Regular Members: The rights of Regular Members shall include the following:

- The right to hold office as an officer or member of the Board of Directors as provided for by these Bylaws;
- The right to vote on any matter brought before annual and special meetings of the members;



- The right to be a member of a committee or other group designated by the Board of Directors as provided for by these Bylaws;
- The right to participate in professional benefits offered by the Corporation; and
- Such other rights and privileges as granted by the Board of Directors.

b. Associate Members: Associate Members shall not have any voting rights in the Corporation. The rights of Associate Members shall include the following:

- The right to attend and participate in a conference, meeting, or other event of the Corporation organized by or on behalf of the Corporation or any of its committees, work groups, or other groups;
- The right to be a member of a committee or other group designated by the Board of Directors as provided for in these Bylaws, provided that the Associate Member has authorization of the Regular Member to be a member of the committee, work group, or other group; and
- Such other rights and privileges as granted by the Board of Directors.

c. Registered Observers: Registered Observers shall not have any voting rights in the Corporation or in any of its committees or other groups. The rights of Registered Observers shall include:

- The right to attend a conference, meeting or other event of the Corporation organized by or on behalf of the Corporation or any of its committees or other groups; and
- Such other rights and privileges as granted by the Board of Directors.

6. **Obligations of Members and Registered Observers.** In addition to other requirements provided for herein, Regular Members, Associate Members, and Registered Observers, shall live up to and abide by the highest ethical principles in the conduct of their affairs.

7. **Voting Rights and Right to Hold Office.** Only Regular Members and their designees, as provided for in Article III, Section 1, shall be entitled to (i) serve as officers and members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation and (ii) vote on any matter brought before annual or special meetings of the members, including the right to vote for the election of directors as provided for in Article IV, Section 8.

8. **Removal.** The members, by affirmative vote of the majority of the members entitled to vote, may remove or suspend any member for reasonable cause. In addition, any member who is convicted of a public offense involving dishonesty, or who has violated their state or other professional association ethical principles or guidelines, may be subject to removal from any office held within the Corporation, as well as any membership benefits, by the affirmative vote of the majority members entitled to vote.

Requests for the removal of a member may be filed by any member in good standing. Such requests shall be in writing, directed to the Manager. The Manager shall notify the Board of Directors of the request and shall cause the request to be listed for membership action at the next scheduled membership meeting. Notice of the request shall be supplied to the members in accordance with the notice provisions of these bylaws.

9. **Resignation.** Any member may resign by filing a written resignation with the Secretary, but such resignation shall not relieve the resigning member of the obligation to pay any dues or other charges theretofore accrued and unpaid.

10. **Meetings.** An annual meeting of members shall be held for the election of directors and the transaction of such other business that may properly come before the members at least once each calendar year, at such time and place as the annual meeting of the Board of Directors. Special meetings may be called by the President, a majority vote of the Board of Directors, or not less than one-third of the members entitled to vote. Meetings of the members may be either within or without the State of Delaware.

11. **Action by Consent.** Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the members, or any actions which may be taken at a meeting of members, may be taken without a meeting if consent in writing or by electronic transmission, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.

12. **Meeting by Means of Remote Communication.** If authorized by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the Board of Directors may adopt, members and proxy holders not physically present at a meeting of the members may, by means of remote communication:

- a. Participate in a meeting of the members; and
- b. Be deemed present in person and vote at a meeting of the members, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or solely by means of remote communication, provided that
  - (i) the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed present and permitted to vote at the meeting by means of remote communication is a member or proxy holder,
  - (ii) the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such members and proxy holders a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the members, including an opportunity to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with such proceedings, and

- (iii) if any member or proxy holder votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be maintained by the Corporation.

13. **Quorum.** The majority of members entitled to vote who are present at any meeting properly called under this Article III shall constitute a quorum, unless otherwise provided for herein. The affirmative vote of a majority of the members present in person or represented by proxy at a meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of the members.

14. **Presiding Officer.** At any meeting of the members, the President shall be the presiding officer for the meeting. Should the President not be available to preside, a Vice President or a person designated by the Board of Directors shall preside.

15. **Voting List and Voting.** A complete list of members eligible to vote shall be made available at any meeting of members. The list shall be by member name, in alphabetical order, and shall include the address, telephone and facsimile numbers, and email addresses of each member. The list shall be produced and kept open at the date, time and place of the meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any member during the whole time of the meeting. At the discretion of the presiding officer of a meeting of members, voting may be taken by ballot, voice, show of hands or such other method determined by the presiding officer, unless it is required, by vote of the members before the vote begins, that the vote be taken by ballot.

16. **Proxies.** At all meetings of members, members entitled to vote on any matter may attend and vote in person, or by proxy. If a member elects to vote by proxy, such proxy shall be executed or authenticated by the member and shall be transmitted to the Secretary of the Corporation or its designated agent. The method and procedures for voting by proxy shall be determined by the Secretary of the Corporation or its designated agent, and such method and procedures shall be provided to members entitled to vote.

17. **Members in Good Standing.** The rights and privileges granted to members by Delaware General Corporation Law, the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and the Operating Rules established pursuant to these Bylaws are granted only to Members in Good Standing. A Member in Good Standing is any member who has met the General Conditions for Membership, has been accepted as a member as specified in these Bylaws, has not been suspended, and has not been declared in default by the Board of Directors for non-payment of dues. Any member declared by the Board of Directors to be in default in payment of dues shall be notified in writing that unless the dues are paid within one month thereafter, such default will be deemed to be the member's resignation from the Corporation.

## ARTICLE IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

---

1. **General Powers.** The affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board of Directors, and all corporate powers, including all powers and duties required to be exercised by the Board of

Directors by any federal or state law governing the Corporation, shall be exercised by the Board of Directors except as otherwise expressly required by law or by these Bylaws. The Board of Directors may adopt such resolutions for the conduct of its business, as it shall deem advisable.

2. **Place of Meetings.** The Board of Directors may hold meetings, annual, regular, or special at any place either within or without the State of Delaware.

3. **Annual Meeting.** The Board of Directors shall hold a regular annual meeting at a time and place set by the Board of Directors. Notice of such meeting shall be given to each Director at least five days prior to the date of the meeting unless the Board, by resolution, otherwise provides.

4. **Regular Meetings.** Additional regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held, at such times and places as may be determined by the Board of Directors. Notice of such a meeting shall be given to each director at least five days prior to the date of the meeting unless the Board, by resolution, otherwise provides.

5. **Special Meetings.** Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Notice of such a meeting shall be given to each director at least two days prior to the date of the meeting unless the Board, by resolution, otherwise provides.

6. **Nomination.** A slate of persons who qualify for the position of director shall be nominated. The slate of persons shall be transmitted to the Secretary of the Corporation by the Chief Staff Officer not later than 45 days prior to each annual meeting of the members.

7. **Quorum; Vote.** At all meetings of the Board of Directors, the presence of more than one-half of the number of seated directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The number of seated directors shall be calculated by subtracting the number of vacancies on the Board from the number of directors fixed in these Bylaws. The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors, unless the affirmative vote of a greater number of directors is specifically required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum is found to exist at a meeting, it shall be deemed to exist until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough directors to leave less than a quorum.

8. **Qualification; Number; Election; and Classes.** Only Regular Members in Good Standing are eligible to become directors. The number of directors constituting the entire Board shall be thirteen. The number of directors may be increased or decreased by amendment of the Bylaws provided that no such amendment may reduce the total number of directors to less than one, and no reduction in the number of directors shall have the effect of shortening the term of any director in office at the time such amendment becomes effective. Each director shall be elected by the voting members of the Corporation.

- Business Members – Five directors shall be Business Sector Members.
- Recorder Members – Five directors shall be Government Sector Members who are responsible for recording property records.
- At Large Members – Three directors shall be either Business Sector Members or Government Sector Members.

Directors shall be elected at the regular annual meeting of the members of the Corporation by the affirmative vote of the majority of voting members then in attendance. If authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors, voting shall be satisfied by a ballot submitted by electronic transmission, provided that any such electronic transmission must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it can be determined that the electronic transmission was authorized by the voting member or proxy holder.

9. **Tenure.** Except as otherwise provided for herein, directors shall be elected to a term of two years. A director shall serve from the date of his or her election until the expiration of his or her term or until a successor has been elected.

10. **Vacancies.** Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, existing between annual meetings of the Board of Directors, including a vacancy created by an increase in the number of directors, shall be filled by appointment by the President with the advice and consent of the Board of Directors. A director so appointed shall serve for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office or until his or her successor is elected and qualified.

11. **Removal.** Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, by a three-fourths majority of the directors present at any meeting, provided there is no less than a two-thirds majority of the entire Board of Directors then in office at the meeting of the Board at which such action is taken.

12. **Resignation.** Any director may resign at any time by giving written notice of his or her resignation to the Secretary of the Corporation. Unless otherwise indicated, such notice shall be effective upon delivery.

13. **Action by Consent Without Meeting.** Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if all of the members of the Board consent to the action in writing or by electronic transmission. Such consents shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the Board of Directors.

14. **Meeting by Telephone or Other Electronic Means.** Any one or more members of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors by means of a conference telephone or other technology by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can

communicate with each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by such means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

**15. Voting by Electronic Means.** In addition to the provisions of Article IV, Paragraphs 13 and 14 of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may take action by electronic means, provided the action to be taken:

- (a) has been discussed at a previous meeting of the Board of Directors;
- (b) a copy of the resolution or document being voted upon is provided; and
- (c) there is an affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast so long as the total number of votes cast by the directors constituted a quorum.

**16. Compensation and Reimbursement.** Members of the Board of Directors shall not receive compensation for services rendered to the Corporation but may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, be reimbursed for reasonable expenses paid while acting on behalf of the Corporation. Nothing herein shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor as authorized by the Board of Directors.

**17. Operating Rules.** The Board of Directors shall adopt by resolution a set of Operating Rules, which all members shall be required to read and abide by, to be entitled to membership in the Corporation and participation or attendance in or on any committee.

## ARTICLE V - COMMITTEES

---

**1. Committees of the Board.** The Board of Directors may, by resolution, establish one or more committees as it deems necessary or proper. The committees will be chaired by Regular Members. The Board of Directors may make provisions for the appointment of the chairpersons of committees, establish procedures to govern the committees' activities, and delegate authority to the committees as may be necessary or desirable for the efficient management of the Corporation, including appointing a Board member to serve as liaison between the committee and the Board. However, the Board of Directors shall not delegate to any committee the power or authority to (1) amend, adopt, or repeal the Bylaws; (2) adopt or approve a plan of merger or consolidation; (3) authorize the voluntary dissolution of the Corporation; or (4) amend or repeal any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its terms is not amendable or repealable. Unless otherwise specified in the resolution establishing a committee, a committee's authority shall continue until terminated by the Board of Directors.

**2. Committee Meetings and Procedures.** Meetings and governance procedures of any committee shall, to the extent not otherwise specified in the Operating Rules or the resolutions of the Board of Directors, be conducted in accordance with the foregoing provisions of these Bylaws governing the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE VI - OFFICERS

---

- 1. Election and Tenure.** The officers of the Corporation shall consist of the President, a Vice President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board of Directors deems appropriate. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors from its membership at the annual meeting of the directors. Officers shall be elected for a one-year term. An officer shall serve from the date of his or her election until his or her successor has been elected or until his or her death, incapacity, resignation, or removal from office with or without cause by the Board of Directors. In the event that there is a vacancy among the officers of the Board of Directors, a successor shall be chosen by a majority vote of the Board present at any meeting at which a quorum is present, to serve the remainder of the unexpired term.
- 2. Duties of the President.** The President shall be the principal executive officer and shall serve in an ex-officio capacity as the Chairman of the Board of Directors, and shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. The President shall preside at all meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors. The President may sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer of the Corporation authorized by the Board of Directors, any document which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws or by statute to some other officer or agent of the Corporation; and in general, the President shall perform all duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The President may, but is not required to, establish a Council of Advisors to give advice to the President on any matter.
- 3. Duties of the Vice President.** In the absence of the President or in the event of his/her inability or refusal to act, the Vice President (or in the event there be more than one Vice President, the Vice Presidents, in their order of election) shall perform the duties of the President, and who so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Any Vice President shall perform such other duties as may be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors.
- 4. Duties of the Secretary.** The Secretary shall assure that the minutes of the meetings of the members and Board of Directors are kept; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; be custodian of the corporate records; keep a record of the post office address of each member which shall be provided by each member; and in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors.
- 5. Duties of the Treasurer.** If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of duties in such sum and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation; receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Corporation in financial institutions as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of Article IX of these

Bylaws; and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as may be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors.

6. **Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary.** The Board of Directors may appoint an Assistant Treasurer as well as an Assistant Secretary, for administrative purposes. Such assistants shall not be considered officers of the Corporation. If required by the Board of Directors, the Assistant Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary in general shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the Treasurer or Secretary or by the President or by the Board of Directors.

7. **Compensation.** An officer may be compensated for services performed on behalf of the Corporation, as the Board of Directors shall establish by resolution.

## ARTICLE VII - INDEMNIFICATION

---

1. **Insurance.** The Corporation may, to the fullest extent required or permitted by applicable law, purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of an individual who is or was a director, member, officer, employee, or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise against any liability asserted against or incurred by him or her in that capacity or arising out of his or her status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such liability pursuant to applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws.

2. **Right to Indemnification.** The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent required or permitted by applicable law, indemnify any person who is or was made, or is threatened to be made, a party to any actual or threatened proceeding because he or she is or was a member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a member, director, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise, against the obligation to pay expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such proceeding if:

- (a) he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interest of the Corporation;
- (b) in the case of a criminal proceeding, he or she had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful; and
- (c) indemnification is authorized pursuant to the terms of these Bylaws.



In the case of a proceeding brought by or in the right of the Corporation, indemnification shall be limited to reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred in connection with the proceeding; except that the Corporation shall not indemnify any individual under such circumstances with respect to any claim, issue, or matter as to which he or she is adjudged liable to the Corporation, unless, and only to the extent that, the Court of Chancery or the court in which such proceeding is brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability and in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification for such expenses as the court shall deem proper.

3. **Authorization of Indemnification.** The Corporation shall not indemnify any individual unless and until a determination has been made that indemnification is permissible under the circumstances because the individual has met the standard of conduct set forth above in section 2 of this Article, and indemnification is authorized for the specific proceeding for which indemnification is sought. The determination that indemnification is permissible shall be made:

- (a) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who were not parties to the proceeding; or
- (b) if such a quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested Directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion.

The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of *nolo contendere* or its equivalent, shall not of itself create a presumption that an individual did not meet the standard of conduct set forth in section 2 of this Article. Authorization that indemnification should be made for the specific proceeding for which it is sought shall also be made in the manner prescribed by subsections (a) and (b) of this section, except that, if the determination that indemnification is permissible is made by special legal counsel under subsection (b), the authorization and evaluation of the reasonableness of expenses shall be made by those persons entitled under subsection (b) to select the counsel.

4. **Advancement of Expenses.** The Corporation shall pay for or reimburse the expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred by a director, member, officer, employee, or agent in defending any proceeding in advance of final disposition of such proceeding if he or she furnishes the Corporation a written undertaking, executed personally or on his or her behalf, to repay the advance to the extent it is ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation under this Article.

5. **Mandatory Indemnification.** The Corporation shall indemnify any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in defense of a proceeding referred to in section 2 of this Article, or of any claim, issue, or matter therein, to the extent such individual has been successful on the merits or otherwise.

6. **Non-exclusivity of Rights.** The right to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred in this Article shall not be exclusive of any other right which a director, officer, employee, or agent may be entitled under law, the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, a resolution of Directors, or an agreement providing for such indemnification or advancement.

7. **Repeal or Amendment.** No repeal or amendment of this Article shall adversely affect any right or protection of an individual with respect to any act or omission occurring prior to such repeal or amendment.

## ARTICLE VIII - NOTICE

---

1. **Notice of Meeting.** Whenever, under the provisions of law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or the Bylaws, notice is required or permitted to be given to any member or director, such notice may be given in writing, addressed to such person at his or her post office address as it appears on the current records of the Corporation. Such notice shall be deemed to be given at the time it is deposited, with postage prepaid thereon, in the United States mail. Notice may also be given by telegraph, teletype, or other form of wire or wireless communication, electronic mail, or private carrier, except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws.

2. **Waiver of Notice.** Whenever any notice is required or permitted to be given under the provisions of law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws, a written waiver thereof, signed by the person entitled to such notice and delivered to the Secretary for inclusion with the records of the meeting, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed to be the equivalent of such notice. Waiver may also be given by telegraph, teletype, or other form of wire or wireless communication, electronic mail, or private carrier, except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws. In addition, any member or director who attends a meeting of the members or Board of Directors, shall be conclusively deemed to have waived notice of such meeting, unless he or she objects at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his or her arrival to the lack of such notice and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.

## ARTICLE IX - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS

---

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation, in addition to the officers so authorized by these Bylaws to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

All electronic funds transfers, checks, drafts or orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such determination by the Board of Directors, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer.

All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited to the credit of the Corporation in such financial institutions as the Board of Directors may select.

The Board of Directors on behalf of the Corporation may accept any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the purposes of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may also, as it deems appropriate, authorize the raising of funds for the purposes of the Corporation.

## ARTICLE X - RECORDS OF THE CORPORATION

---

The Corporation shall keep correct and complete financial records , and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of its members, Board of Directors and committees having any of the authority of the Board of Directors, and shall keep accessible at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the members entitled to vote. All records of the Corporation may be inspected by any member, or the member's agent or attorney for any proper purpose at any reasonable time. Commensurate with industry best practices, an archival copy of all records shall be maintained in a location geographically removed from the registered or principal office of the Corporation.

## ARTICLE XI - FISCAL YEAR AND AUDIT

---

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors may order an audit of the Corporation's financial records.

## ARTICLE XII - AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

---

These Bylaws may be altered or amended by the affirmative vote of the majority of the members present and voting at any annual or special meeting. Proposed amendments to the Bylaws shall be submitted to the members at least 30 days prior to the meeting at which they are to be considered.

Adopted Date August 15, 2002

Amended July 10, 2003

Amended July 2, 2006

Amended July 22, 2007

Revised February 29, 2008

Amended March 5, 2009

Amended March 1, 2012

Amended February 26, 2014

Amended February 18, 2015

Amended August 24, 2016

PROPERTY RECORDS INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION



Diane Swoboda Peterson, Secretary